

## Scholars' Mine

**Doctoral Dissertations** 

Student Theses and Dissertations

Summer 2021

# EMI characterization for power supplies and machine learning based modeling in EMC/SI

Jiayi He

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsmine.mst.edu/doctoral\_dissertations

Part of the Electromagnetics and Photonics Commons Department: Electrical and Computer Engineering

## **Recommended Citation**

He, Jiayi, "EMI characterization for power supplies and machine learning based modeling in EMC/SI" (2021). *Doctoral Dissertations*. 3004. https://scholarsmine.mst.edu/doctoral\_dissertations/3004

This thesis is brought to you by Scholars' Mine, a service of the Missouri S&T Library and Learning Resources. This work is protected by U. S. Copyright Law. Unauthorized use including reproduction for redistribution requires the permission of the copyright holder. For more information, please contact scholarsmine@mst.edu.

# EMI CHARACTERIZATION FOR POWER SUPPLIES AND MACHINE LEARNING BASED MODELING IN EMC/SI

by

## JIAYI HE

## A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the

## MISSOURI UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN ELECTRIC ENGINEERING

2021

Approved by

Dr. Chulsoon Hwang, Advisor Dr. Jun Fan, Co-advisor Dr. James Drewniak Dr. Daryl Beetner Dr. Bhyrav Mutnury

© 2021 JIAYI HE All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

Signal integrity (SI) and electromagnetic interference (EMI) are essential for consumer electronics and high-speed server applications. It is necessary to do EMI and SI modeling at the design stage. In this research, several modeling approaches for EMI and SI problems are proposed. By using measurement-based modeling method, the mechanism of conducted emissions (CE) on ac to dc power supplies in an LED TV is analyzed. A system-level transient simulation model is built to predict the conducted emission (CE). To characterize the equivalent dipole moment sources in RFI and EMI problems, a dipole source reconstruction method based on machine learning techniques is proposed. The picture of the electromagnetic field is fed to the convolutional neural network, and the CNN performs a multi-label classification to determine all types of dominant dipole moments. The CNN also generates a class activation map, which indicates the locations of each type of present dipole moment. By using the integer programming method, a PCB stack-up design method is proposed. In high-speed PCB designs, a design with 30 layers or more is not uncommon and there are many logical design constraints that need to be considered. The constraints are converted to mathematical inequalities using the integer programming technique. Then an integer program solver is called to get all possible combinations. The number of possible combinations gets large as the number of layers increases, and the proposed method is much more efficient than brute-force searching. After a nominal design is picked, a searching algorithm based on integer programming is further used to find corner cases by considering the manufacturing variations.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my great gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Chulsoon Hwang, and my co-advisor, Dr. Jun Fan, for their guidance, encouragement, and valuable help throughout my Ph.D. study. I appreciate their training and instructions. They also provided me with great opportunities and helped me choose my future career path. I feel fortunate to work with them and be their student.

I would also like to thank Dr. James Drewniak for teaching me great technical and non-technical skills.

I would also like to thank Dr. Bhyrav Mutnury for providing insightful ideas and supportive resources in my research.

I would also like to thank Dr. Daryl Beetner, Dr. DongHyun Kim, Dr. Victor Khilkevich and all EMCLAB students for their help and support.

This dissertation is based upon work supported partially by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. IIP-1440110.

Finally, my sincere appreciation goes to my parents, who unconditionally love me and support my Ph.D. study.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page
ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iv
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS vii
LIST OF TABLES
SECTION
1. INTRODUCTION1
2. ANALYSIS AND MODELING OF CONDUCTED EMISSION FROM AN LED TV POWER SUPPLY
2.1. MEASUREMENT OF THE CONDUCTED EMI NOISE
2.2. ANALYSIS OF EMI CHARACTERISTICS
2.2.1. Analysis of CM EMI Noise7
2.2.2. Analysis of DM EMI Noise 10
2.3. EMI MODELING 15
2.3.1. Parasitic Parameters Extraction
2.3.2. EMI Prediction by Transient Simulation17
2.3.3. The Effect of the Ground Filter
3. DIPOLE SOURCE RECONSTRUCTION BY CONVOLUTIONAL NEURAL NETWORKS
3.1. MACHINE LEARNING BASED DIPOLE RECONSTRUCTION

3.1.1. Convolutional Neural Network for Multi-Label Classification
3.1.2. Class Activation Map
3.1.3. Dipole Extraction Algorithm by CNN
3.2. VALIDATIONS
3.2.1. Synthesized Examples
3.2.2. Practical Example
4. THE APPLICATION OF INTEGER PROGRAMMING TECHNIQUE FOR PCB STACK-UP DESIGN
4.1. INTEGER PROGRAMMING FOR STACK-UP DESIGN
4.1.1. Introduction of Integer Programming
4.1.2. Stack-up Constraints Transformation by Integer Programming
4.2. SOLVING BY INTEGER PROGRAMMING SOLVER
4.3. STACK-UP DESIGN VALIDATIONS
4.4. CORNER CASES SEARCHING BY INTEGER PROGRAMMING
4.4.1. Integer Program Construction
4.4.2. Corner Case Searching Validation
5. CONCLUSION
BIBLIOGRAPHY7
VITA

## LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure 2.1. System diagram of the power supply for the LED TV
Figure 2.2. Measurement setup of the conducted EMI noise
Figure 2.3. The diagram of the EMI receiver model
Figure 2.4. The Gaussian filter in the EMI receiver model
Figure 2.5. Measured CM conducted EMI spectrogram from 150 kHz to 1 MHz
Figure 2.6. Measured CM conducted EMI spectrogram from 1 MHz to 3 MHz
Figure 2.7. CM EMI noise in peak detector
Figure 2.8. Major paths of the CM EMI noise current
Figure 2.9. Measured DM conducted EMI spectrogram from 150 kHz to 1 MHz 11
Figure 2.10. Measured DM conducted EMI spectrogram from 1 MHz to 3 MHz 11
Figure 2.11. DM EMI noise in peak detector
Figure 2.12. Time domain waveforms of the rectifier output voltage and input voltage. 12
Figure 2.13. DM EMI current paths when only one diode is on
Figure 2.14. DM EMI current paths when two diodes are on
Figure 2.15. Q3D simulation model for parasitic capacitance extraction
Figure 2.16. HFSS simulation model for $C_{p2}$ and loop inductance extraction
Figure 2.17. Simulated impedance result
Figure 2.18. Control circuit of a CRM PFC
Figure 2.19. Transient simulation model for CRM PFC boost converter
Figure 2.20. The inductor current waveform and control signal
Figure 2.21. PFC input voltage and inductor current
Figure 2.22. PFC switching signal spectrum

Figure 2.23. Transient simulation model for LLC resonant converter.	. 21
Figure 2.24. LLC switching signal spectrum	. 22
Figure 2.25. CM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz.	. 23
Figure 2.26. CM EMI spectrum comparison above 1 MHz.	. 23
Figure 2.27. DM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz.	. 24
Figure 2.28. DM EMI spectrum comparison above 1MHz.	. 24
Figure 2.29. CM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz, with filter	. 25
Figure 2.30. CM EMI spectrum comparison above 1 MHz, with filter	. 26
Figure 2.31. DM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz, with filter	. 26
Figure 2.32. DM EMI spectrum comparison above 1 MHz, with filter	27
Figure 3.1. Six types of basic dipole moments.	29
Figure 3.2. Multi-class classification.	. 30
Figure 3.3. Multi-label classification.	. 31
Figure 3.4. Location feature extraction in CNN.	32
Figure 3.5. The structure of the CNN layer.	. 34
Figure 3.6. Testing loss graph of the neural network	. 34
Figure 3.7. Workflow of the proposed algorithm.	. 35
Figure 3.8. Field patterns of the input image in example 1	. 36
Figure 3.9. Class activation map of the M <sub>x</sub> dipole type	. 36
Figure 3.10. Field patterns of the input image in example 2	. 37
Figure 3.11. The class activation map of $M_x$ and $M_z$	. 37
Figure 3.12. H <sub>x</sub> patterns from the extracted dipoles.	. 38
Figure 3.13. Field patterns of the input image in example 3	. 39
Figure 3.14. The class activation map of $M_x$ and $M_z$	. 39
Figure 3.15. H <sub>x</sub> patterns from the extracted dipoles.	. 40

Figure 3.16. Reconstructed field pattern	. 40
Figure 3.17. Setup of the field measurement.	. 41
Figure 3.18. Measured H <sub>x</sub>	. 41
Figure 3.19. Measured H <sub>y</sub>	. 42
Figure 3.20. The class activation map of H <sub>x</sub>	. 42
Figure 3.21. The class activation map of H <sub>y</sub>	. 43
Figure 3.22. Reconstructed field pattern	. 43
Figure 4.1. An example of PCB stack-up.	. 45
Figure 4.2. The structure of a differential stripline	. 51
Figure 4.3. The structure of a dual stripline	. 54
Figure 4.4. The flow chart for solving integer programming problems	. 57
Figure 4.5. The stack-up arrangement results	. 58
Figure 4.6. The stack-up design result	. 59
Figure 4.7. The time this method takes	. 60
Figure 4.8. The flow chart for corner case searching.	. 62
Figure 4.9. Variables in a differential stripline	. 63
Figure 4.10. Linear approximation.	. 66

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. EMI mechanism summary.	14
Table 4.1. Bounds of input variables.	65
Table 4.2. Calculated weights	66
Table 4.3. Searching results.	67
Table 4.4. Searching time.	68

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

SI/EMI problems are more and more important in electrical systems as the speed getting higher and design density getting larger. Three SI/EMI modeling problems are discussed in this research.

In Section 2, the conducted emissions (CE) on ac to dc power supplies in an LED TV is analyzed and modeled. Power factor correction and resonant converters are widely used in ac to dc power supplies. The switching noise of power converters is the main noise source for conducted EMI. The parasitic capacitors between the board layout and chassis form a current path for common mode noise. The differential mode noise is naturally caused by the normal operation of the converters. Mode conversion can happen when one diode is forward biased while other three are reversed biased, and this mode conversion is the dominant mechanism of DM EMI at high frequencies for this LED TV. The current paths of both DM and CM EMI noise are analyzed and modeled in full-wave simulations. The switching noise of converters are modeled using circuit models. A system-level transient simulation model is built to predict the conducted emission (CE). The predicted DM and CM CE show good agreement with measurements.

In Section 3, a dipole source reconstruction based on machine learning techniques is proposed. In the study of RFI and EMI problems, equivalent dipole moments are widely used to reconstruct the noise source. The coupled voltage or coupled power can be calculated from the reconstructed dipole sources. A machine learning based dipole source reconstruction method using convolutional neural networks (CNN). The picture of the electromagnetic field is fed to the convolutional neural network, and the CNN performs a multi-label classification to determine all types of dominant dipole moments. The CNN also generates a class activation map, which indicates the locations of each type of present dipole moment. With the types and locations of the dipoles known, the magnitude and phase of each dipole can be obtained from LSQ or other optimization methods. With a pre-trained convolutional neural network model, the proposed method is validated with simulated and measured field patterns.

In Section 4, an integer programming application for PCB stack-up design is discussed. In high-speed PCB designs, a design with 30 layers or more is not uncommon and there are many logical design constraints that need to be considered. A method based on integer programming is proposed to convert logical constraints to pure mathematical inequalities. Then an integer program solver is called to get all possible combinations. The number of possible combinations gets large as the number of layers increases, and the proposed method is much more efficient than brute-force searching. After a nominal design is picked, another searching algorithm based on integer programming is proposed to find corner cases by considering the manufacturing variations. First the searching range is narrowed down by adding constraints in the integer program, then 2D cross-section simulations are launched in parallel to find the corner cases. The accuracy and efficiency of proposed method are validated with practical PCB designs.

## 2. ANALYSIS AND MODELING OF CONDUCTED EMISSION FROM AN LED TV POWER SUPPLY

AC-DC power supplies are widely used in consumer power electronic devices. Power factor correction (PFC) and dc-dc converters are two important parts in ac-dc power supplies to achieve high efficiency. The PFC shapes the input current of power supplies to makes it in phase with the input voltage and minimize its line-frequency harmonics, thus achieving a high power factor (PF) [1], [2]. In this case, the power loss is minimized and the interference with other devices being powered from the same source is also minimized.

PFC boost converters can work in three conditions: continuous conduction mode (CCM), critical conduction mode (CRM) and discontinuous conduction mode (DCM). In lower power applications like power adaptors and televisions (TV), CRM PFC boost converters are popular because they are inexpensive, efficient, and relatively simple to use. The output of the PFC is further converted to the desired voltage level by a dc-dc converter in the second stage. Resonant converters have less switching loss and high power density characteristics than pulse-width modulation converters [3], [4]. Hence, resonant converters are widely used as dc-dc converters in commercial products.

Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC) standards such as EN55032 are defined to limit the electromagnetic interference (EMI) noise levels coming out from real products. EMI filters are usually placed inside power supplies to meet the EMC standards [5]-[9]. A lot of research and investigations have also been done in this area [10]-[16]. Knowing the EMI characteristics and being able to model the EMI noise from power supply converters can help reduce the time and cost required for a product design. The overall system diagram of the power supply is shown in Figure 2.1. The power supply uses a two-wire power cord. The power supply consists of two stages: a CRM boost PFC converter and an LLC resonant converter. The operating frequency range of the boost PFC converter is from 190 to 250 kHz, and the operating frequency of the LLC resonant converter is 78 kHz. The output of the LLC resonant converter is referenced to a large metal chassis with a size of 48 in by 28 in in the TV.



Figure 2.1. System diagram of the power supply for the LED TV.

The conducted EMI from the power supply on an LED TV is measured by an oscilloscope and analyzed by the joint Time-Frequency analysis using the short-time Fourier transform (STFT) up to 30 MHz. Dominant noise sources and coupling mechanisms are identified and analyzed. A transient circuit model is built to model the entire system and the noise current paths. The conducted EMI noise up to 30 MHz is predicted from the transient simulation.

#### 2.1. MEASUREMENT OF THE CONDUCTED EMI NOISE

The measurement setup is shown in Figure 2.2. The distance between the TV and the vertical earth ground plane is 40 cm. The height of the wooden table is 80 cm. The power supply board is mounted on the TV metal chassis which is floating from the earth ground. The power supply board is a two-layer printed circuit board (PCB) where the top layer is for components and the bottom layer is for routing. The distance between the board and the metal chassis is 6 mm. Two measurement ports for the line and neutral of the line impedance stabilization network (LISN) are connected to two channels of an oscilloscope.



Figure 2.2. Measurement setup of the conducted EMI noise.

The time domain waveforms of the two channels are recorded with an adequate time length. The DM and CM voltages  $V_{dm}$  and  $V_{cm}$  are calculated as:

$$V_{dm} = \frac{V_1 - V_2}{2}$$
(1)

$$V_{cm} = \frac{V_1 + V_2}{2}$$
(2)

where  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  are the measured voltages from the two measurement ports of the LISN.

An EMI receiver model is developed to convert time domain noise waveforms to CE spectrums including the characteristics of the Gaussian window filter and detector of an EMI receiver [17]. Based on CISPR16 standard, the 6 dB bandwidth of the filter, which is also called as the resolution bandwidth (RBW), is allowed to be in between 8 kHz and 10 kHz [18]. Time domain waveforms are first converted to time-varying spectrums by the STFT. Then, detector models are used to evaluate the peak, average or quasi-peak values of time-varying spectrums. The structure of the EMI receiver model is shown in Figure 2.3. [19].



Figure 2.3. The diagram of the EMI receiver model.

## The characteristic of the Gaussian filter is shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4. The Gaussian filter in the EMI receiver model.

## 2.2. ANALYSIS OF EMI CHARACTERISTICS

**2.2.1. Analysis of CM EMI Noise.** The time-varying spectrums of the measured CM EMI noises are shown in Figure 2.5 and Figure 2.6. Figure 2.5 shows the time-varying spectrum below 1 MHz, Figure 2.6 shows the time-varying spectrum from 1 MHz to 3 MHz and the peak values of the time-varying spectrum up to 30 MHz is presented in Figure 2.7.



Figure 2.5. Measured CM conducted EMI spectrogram from 150 kHz to 1 MHz.



Figure 2.6. Measured CM conducted EMI spectrogram from 1 MHz to 3 MHz.



Figure 2.7. CM EMI noise in peak detector.

From the time-varying spectrums, it can be seen that there are mainly two groups of frequency components. The first group is changing periodically in time domain, which corresponds to the switching frequency of the boost PFC converter and its harmonics. The second group is almost constant and does not vary a lot with respect to time, which corresponds to the switching frequency of the LLC resonant converter and its harmonics. Therefore, both the boost PFC converter and the LLC resonant converter are the noise sources of CM conducted emission.

Current paths for CM EMI noise are shown in Figure 2.8. The CM EMI noise is caused by the parasitic capacitances between the PCB traces and the metallic chassis of the TV and the parasitic capacitance between the metallic chassis of the TV and the earth ground plane of the test setup. The important parasitic capacitances between the PCB traces and the metallic chassis of the TV include the parasitic capacitance between the drain node of the switching MOSFET of the boost PFC converter and the metallic chassis of the TV; the parasitic capacitance between the drain node of the low-side switching MOSFET, which is also the source node of the high-side switching MOSFET, of the LLC resonant converter and the metallic chassis of the TV; the parasitic capacitance between the primary and secondary sides of the transformer of the LLC resonant converter; and the parasitic capacitance between the metallic chassis of the TV and the earth ground plane of the test setup.

The current path consisting of metallic chassis of the TV, vertical earth ground wall, horizontal earth ground, LISN and the power cable forms a large loop. There is a large inductance associated with this loop. This inductance and the total capacitance in the loop form a serial LC resonance. From the CM EMI results using peak detector, a serial resonance is observed at 20 MHz.



Figure 2.8. Major paths of the CM EMI noise current.

**2.2.2. Analysis of DM EMI Noise.** The time-varying spectrums of the measured DM EMI noises are shown below. Figure 2.9 shows the time-varying spectrum below 1 MHz, Figure 2.10 shows the time-varying spectrum from 1 MHz to 3 MHz, and the peak

values of the time-varying spectrum up to 30 MHz is presented in Figure 2.11. For fundamental switching frequency range of the PFC, the DM noise level is much larger than the CM noise level and the PFC noise is dominant. For the frequency range above 1 MHz, the DM noise level is lower than the CM noise.



Figure 2.9. Measured DM conducted EMI spectrogram from 150 kHz to 1 MHz.



Figure 2.10. Measured DM conducted EMI spectrogram from 1 MHz to 3 MHz.



Figure 2.11. DM EMI noise in peak detector.

The DM EMI spectrum characteristics vary with time and are related to the status of the rectifier. The line voltage is 120 V, 60 Hz ac voltage. The absolute input voltage and output voltage of the rectifier are plotted in Figure 2.12.



Figure 2.12. Time domain waveforms of the rectifier output voltage and input voltage.

Below 500 kHz, DM EMI is strong when the rectifier is on and the main noise source is PFC. However, DM EMI above 500 kHz gets large when the rectifier is off, which means at most 1 diode in the rectifier is on. When the rectifier is on, DM EMI noise is mainly caused by the differential current loop during normal switching actions as shown in Figure 2.13. Since the LLC switching noise will be greatly attenuated by the boost inductor and the output capacitor of the PFC boost converter, PFC is the dominant noise source. During the time interval that absolute line voltage is smaller than the voltage at PFC input, at most one diode in the rectifier is on. When there is one diode on in the rectifier, the current can also flow through the parasitic capacitor between board layout and TV chassis and then through this one forward biased diode as shown in Figure 2.14. Since the boost inductor node and signal ground node are not symmetric to earth ground, voltages across two diodes in the bridge rectifier are different. Two diodes are turned from forward biased to reversed biased at different times. In this situation, mode conversion happens, and DM CE noises at the LISN can be observed.



Figure 2.13. DM EMI current paths when only one diode is on.



Figure 2.14. DM EMI current paths when two diodes are on.

The summary of the EMI mechanism is shown in Table 2.1:

Table 2.1. EMI mechanism summary.

	Mechanisms
Differential mode	1. From the normal working condition of PFC.
CE	2. Mode-conversion when the rectifier is off.
	1. The parasitic capacitances between the board layout and
	TV chassis.
Common mode	2. The parasitic capacitance between the primary and
CE	secondary side of the transformer.
	3. The loop inductance and total capacitance can form an LC
	resonance.

## 2.3. EMI MODELING

A transient model is built to predict conducted EMI for this DUT.

**2.3.1. Parasitic Parameters Extraction.** The parasitic parameters play an important role in EMI noise of the DUT. The parasitic capacitors between PCB layout and metal chassis are extracted using Ansys Q3D as shown in Figure 2.15 [19]. The simulated results are as follows:  $C_{p1, PFC} = 4 \text{ pF}$ ,  $C_{p1, LLC} = 1 \text{ pF}$ ,  $C_{p2} = 36 \text{ pF}$ .



Figure 2.15. Q3D simulation model for parasitic capacitance extraction.

The loop inductance and the parasitic capacitor between TV chassis and vertical ground are simulated using Ansys HFSS [20]. The simulation model for loop impedance is shown in Figure 2.16. The simulated result is shown in Figure 2.17. At low frequencies, the impedance is dominated by the capacitance between the metallic chassis and the vertical ground wall. There is a resonance at 13 MHz, and this resonance is associated with the chassis to ground wall capacitance and the loop inductance. From simulated  $Z_{11}$  result,  $C_{p3}$  is 70 pF and  $L_{loop}$  is 2.1  $\mu$ H.



Figure 2.16. HFSS simulation model for  $C_{p2}$  and loop inductance extraction.



Figure 2.17. Simulated impedance result.

**2.3.2. EMI Prediction by Transient Simulation.** A system-level transient simulation model is built to predict the conducted emissions of the power supply. The LISN model, PFC model, LLC model and parasitic components on the current path are included in the transient simulation. In the LISN model,  $L_{LN} = 50 \ \mu\text{H}$ ,  $C_{LN1} = 1 \ \mu\text{F}$ ,  $C_{LN2} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{F}$ ,  $R_{LN} = 50 \ \Omega$ . For PFC,  $L_b = 238 \ \mu\text{H}$ ,  $C_x = 0.82 \ \mu\text{F}$  and  $C_o = 82 \ \mu\text{F}$ .

In PFC boost converter, the switching is controlled so that the average inductor current follows the input voltage of the PFC, which is usually the voltage after the rectifier. The inductor current increases when the switch is turned on and decrease when the switch is turned off. For a CRM PFC, the switch is turned from off to on when the inductor current reaches zero. Since the output voltage of the PFC boost converter is almost a constant while the input voltage after the rectifier is changing in half line period, the duty cycle is varying in half line period. For a CRM PFC with a constant on-time, the off-time of the switch is varying, thus making the switching frequency vary in half line period. The PFC is

switching at the maximum frequency when the input voltage reaches the minimum value and switching at the minimum frequency when the input voltage is at its maximum level. An accurate switching frequency is very important in a CRM PFC model as the switching noise is the main noise source of the conducted EMI.

To accurately model the time domain switching waveform, the control circuit of a CRM PFC is built as shown in Figure 2.18. When the power switch turns on, the inductor current ramps up until the comparator signal reaches the threshold. At this point the comparator output state changes and the power switch is turned off. Then the inductor current starts to ramp down until it reaches zero. The zero current detection (ZCD) circuit measures the voltage across the inductor. When the inductor current reaches zero, the voltage will also be zero and be detected by ZCD circuit. The switch is turned on again at this point.



Figure 2.18. Control circuit of a CRM PFC.

The complete transient simulation model for PFC is shown in Figure 2.19. The switching frequency of the CRM PFC is controlled by a voltage-mode control scheme. The control circuit is built to accurately model the time domain switching waveform [21].



Figure 2.19. Transient simulation model for CRM PFC boost converter.

To validate the PFC is working as expected, the simulated inductor current, PFC input voltage and control signal waveforms are shown in Figure 2.20 and Figure 2.21. It can be seen that the inductor current is in phase with PFC input voltage and the envelope of the inductor current has the same shape as the input voltage, thus achieving a high power factor. The duty cycle and switching frequency of the PFC are changing during half line period. The on-time is controlled to be 2.2  $\mu$ s. So the PFC is working in CRM with a constant on-time.



Figure 2.20. The inductor current waveform and control signal.



Figure 2.21. PFC input voltage and inductor current.

The PFC switching waveform is also measured using high-voltage differential probe MicSig DP10013. Simulated switching spectrum matches well with measured switching spectrum as shown in Figure 2.22.

In LLC resonant converter,  $C_r = 27$  nF,  $L_m = 605 \mu$ H. The switching frequency of LLC resonant converter is 78.5 kHz. The transformer parasitics are modeled by a two-capacitor model [23]. Two capacitors,  $C_{T1}$  and  $C_{T2}$  are 3.5 pF and 2.5 pF, respectively. The transient simulation model for LLC is shown in Figure 2.23.



Figure 2.22. PFC switching signal spectrum.



Figure 2.23. Transient simulation model for LLC resonant converter.

The comparison of switching noise spectrum between simulation and measurement is shown in Figure 2.24. Then these two parts of the power supply are combined as the complete transient simulation model for CE prediction. The voltage waveforms across two LISN resistors are simulated. The simulated noise waveforms are converted to frequency domain conducted emissions by the developed EMI receiver model. Simulated CM EMI noise spectrum agrees well with measurement results to 30 MHz and the resonance at 20 MHz is captured by the simulation model as shown in Figure 2.25 and Figure 2.26. Figure 2.27 and Figure 2.28 shows the DM EMI noise spectrum comparison between simulation and measurement results. Good correlation is achieved up in DM conducted emissions to 15 MHz. The DM CE is attenuated by the PFC boost inductor and its level is getting lower above 15 MHz.



Figure 2.24. LLC switching signal spectrum.



Figure 2.25. CM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz.



Figure 2.26. CM EMI spectrum comparison above 1 MHz.



Figure 2.27. DM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz.



Figure 2.28. DM EMI spectrum comparison above 1MHz.

**2.3.3. The Effect of the Ground Filter.** A ground filter is usually placed between the signal ground and the metal chassis to reduce conducted emissions. A typical design of the ground filter consists of a ferrite and a capacitor. The comparisons of CM and DM conducted emissions are shown in Figure 2.29, Figure 2.30, Figure 2.31 and Figure 2.32, respectively. The transient simulation model results agree well with measurement results. The ground filter reduces the CM EMI noise and shifts the resonance frequency. It can also be seen DM conducted emissions don't change with the ground filter at low frequencies. But at higher frequencies, the ground filter also reduces DM conducted emissions, which further proves that mode conversion is the dominant mechanism for DM EMI noise above 700 kHz.



Figure 2.29. CM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz, with filter.


Figure 2.30. CM EMI spectrum comparison above 1 MHz, with filter.



Figure 2.31. DM EMI spectrum comparison below 1 MHz, with filter.



Figure 2.32. DM EMI spectrum comparison above 1 MHz, with filter.

# 3. DIPOLE SOURCE RECONSTRUCTION BY CONVOLUTIONAL NEURAL NETWORKS

As the data rate in electronic devices gets higher, radio frequency interference (RFI) problems are becoming more significant. In the study of RFI problems, equivalent dipole moments are widely used to reconstruct the noise source [24], [25]. The coupled voltage or coupled power can be calculated from the reconstructed dipole sources. Designers can also improve the design to mitigate the coupling based on the equivalent source models.

Since dipole sources reconstruction can help the analysis and design significantly, various methods have been developed to extract dipole moments. With a uniform array of electric and magnetic dipole moments predefined, the least square (LSQ) method can be used to solve the magnitude and phase of each dipole moment [26]. However, this method is sensitive to measurement noise and the solution may be non-physical when the size of the dipole array gets large. Optimization methods such as Genetic algorithm are also common solutions to this problem [27], [28]. But the convergence and computation time of optimization methods usually depend on the initial value. A machine learning method based on support vector machine (SVM) have been used to classify the dominant dipole type from the image of the near-field pattern [29]. The location of the dipole is further determined from auto-correlation calculation after the type is identified. This method shows the capability of pattern recognition techniques in field pattern classification and dipole source reconstruction.

A machine learning based dipole source reconstruction method using convolutional neural networks (CNN) is proposed. CNNs are widely used to process 2-D grid data such as images. CNNs have also been used to solve electromagnetic problems [30]. The picture

of the electromagnetic field is fed to the convolutional neural network, and the CNN performs a multi-label classification to determine all types of dominant dipole moments. The CNN also generates a class activation map, which indicates the locations of each type of present dipole moment [9]. With the types and locations of the dipoles known, the magnitude and phase of each dipole can be obtained from LSQ or other optimization methods.

## **3.1. MACHINE LEARNING BASED DIPOLE RECONSTRUCTION**

Dipole moments are the most basic radiation sources. An infinitely small electrical current segment forms an electrical dipole (P dipole). An infinitely small current loop forms a magnetic dipole (M dipole). There are six types of basic dipole moments based on the orientations as shown in Figure 3.1. The near field of each basic dipole moment can be calculated from analytical formulas. Each basic dipole moment also has its unique near field patterns. The feature of the pattern can be used to classify the type of the dipole moment by machine learning algorithms.



Figure 3.1. Six types of basic dipole moments.

**3.1.1. Convolutional Neural Network for Multi-Label Classification.** In machine learning and computer vision, the convolutional neural network is a typical neural network used for image classification analysis [31]. In this work, a set of field pattern pictures generated from analytical formulas is given as the training dataset. Each picture is labeled with the categories of the present dipoles. If a type of dipole moment exists in the field pattern, this category is labeled with 1, otherwise it is labeled with 0. As a result, the label for each picture is a 1 by 6 array and each element in the array is either 1 or 0. In convolutional neural networks, there are usually a few convolutional layers with rectified linear unit (ReLu) function as the activation function and pooling layers. In multi-class classification, softmax function is usually used as the activation function at the last stage as shown in Figure 3.2. In this case, only 1 type of dipole can be recognized.



Figure 3.2. Multi-class classification.

Since it's possible that multiple types of dipole moments are present, different types of dipole moments are not exclusive and a multi-label classification task is desired. Therefore, the activation function of the last layer is the sigmoid function instead of the softmax function, which is widely used as the activation function in multi-class classification tasks as shown in Figure 3.3. The sigmoid function is shown as follows:

$$sigmoid(x) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-x}} \tag{3}$$



Figure 3.3. Multi-label classification.

The output of the sigmoid function can be interpreted as the probability of the input belonging to this category. The loss function is the cross entropy between the output logits and the corresponding labels as shown in (4),

$$cross\_entropy = -z \times \log(sigmoid(\alpha)) -(1-z) \times \log(1-sigmoid(\alpha))$$
(4)

where z is the label vector of the picture and  $\alpha$  is the output of the neural network before the sigmoid activation function. With the sigmoid cross entropy as the loss function, the convolutional neural network is supposed to recognize all the present types of dipoles in the given field pattern.

**3.1.2. Class Activation Map.** To get the location of each type of dipole, the class activation mapping (CAM) technique is used. In image processing, a class activation map for a particular category indicates the discriminative image regions used by the CNN to identify that category [32], [33]. CAM can be generated using global averaging pooling after the last convolutional layer. Figure 3.4 shows the structure of the CNN for generating CAM. Global averaging pooling outputs the spatial average of the feature map at the last convolutional layer. Then a fully-connected layer is used as the last layer to produce the final output.



Figure 3.4. Location feature extraction in CNN.

For a given image, let  $f_k(x, y)$  represent the output of unit k in the last convolutional layer at location (*x*, *y*). Then equation (5) shows the result of global average pooling.

$$F^{k} = \sum_{x,y} f_{k}(x,y) \tag{5}$$

The final score of a given class c,  $S_c$ , is calculated in (6).

$$S_c = \sum_k \omega_k^c F_k \tag{6}$$

where  $\omega_k^c$  is the weight corresponding to class *c* for unit *k* in the last fully-connected layer. By plugging equation (5) into (6), the final score can be expressed in (7).

$$S_{c} = \sum_{k} \omega_{k}^{c} \sum_{x,y} f_{k}(x, y)$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{x,y} \sum_{k} \omega_{k}^{c} f_{k}(x, y)$$
 (7)

Then the class activation map for class c, denoted as  $M_c$ , is defined in (8).

$$M_{c}(x, y) = \sum_{k} \omega_{k}^{c} f_{k}(x, y)$$
(8)

Since the total score is the spatial summation of the class activation map, the class activation map directly indicates the importance of the image region leading to a certain class. The image region with larger values in the class activation map tends to be more relevant to this class. In this work, if a certain type of dipole moment is recognized by the neural network, the class activation map is calculated to identify the location of this dipole moment.

**3.1.3. Dipole Extraction Algorithm by CNN.** The structure of the CNN is shown in Figure 3.5. The batch size is 256 in this structure. After the input layer, there are two 2D convolutional layers connecting in series to increase the network complexity and function-fitting ability. Then a linear layer is used to reduce the dimension of the data. Finally a fully-connected layer with sigmoid activation function is used to generate the classification outputs. The last fully connected layer is also used to compute the class activation map.



Figure 3.5. The structure of the CNN layer.

3000 field patterns generated from analytical formulas and their corresponding labels are used as training data. A learning rate of 0.01 with Adam Optimizer is used in training. The loss on test data is shown in Figure 3.6. The loss converges after 40 epochs.



Figure 3.6. Testing loss graph of the neural network.

The workflow of the proposed dipole source reconstruction is shown in Figure 3.7. First the unknown field pattern is fed to the trained convolutional neural network to determine the types of dipole moments in this pattern. For each type of the dipole moment, the corresponding class activation map is calculated to determine its location.



Figure 3.7. Workflow of the proposed algorithm.

#### **3.2. VALIDATIONS**

**3.2.1. Synthesized Examples.** The field pattern of the first example is shown in Figure 3.8. This pattern is from a simple  $M_x$  dipole and used to illustrate the function of class activation map. The neural network classifies the field pattern to  $M_x$  dipole category. Then the class activation map for this category is calculated and the result is shown in Figure 3.9.



Figure 3.8. Field patterns of the input image in example 1.



Figure 3.9. Class activation map of the  $M_x$  dipole type.

In the class activation map, the hot region represents the location that is most relevant to this category, thus indicating the location of the dipole moment. It can be seen that the region with largest color value in Figure 3.9 corresponds to the location of the dipole in the field pattern shown in Figure 3.8. Though the location information are not provided and only image-level labels are used in the training, this algorithm has the ability to locate the feature of a certain category.

The  $H_x$  and  $H_y$  field patterns of the second example are shown in Figure 3.10. The field pattern picture is sent to the pre-trained convolutional neural network. Two types of dipoles,  $M_x$  and  $M_z$ , are identified by the network. Similarly, the class activation maps for these two categories are calculated and the results are shown in Figure 3.11.



Figure 3.10. Field patterns of the input image in example 2.



Figure 3.11. The class activation map of  $M_x$  and  $M_z$ .

In the class activation map for  $M_x$  dipole, it is clear that there is only one red region and the location of the largest value in this map is the location of the  $M_x$  dipole. The location of the  $M_z$  dipole is also where the largest value locates in the  $M_z$  dipole map. The map for  $M_z$  dipole is noisier than the map for  $M_x$  in this example. Possible reasons can be the imbalance of the training data or hyper-parameters not being well-tuned. With the types and the locations of the dipoles known, their magnitudes and phases can be determined by least square or optimization methods. The H fields from the  $M_x$  dipole moment and the  $M_z$  dipole moment at the detected locations are shown in Figure 3.12.



Figure 3.12. H<sub>x</sub> patterns from the extracted dipoles.

Since two dipoles are located far away from each other, the field pattern in Figure 3.10 is relatively easier to recognize. A more complex example is tested on the proposed algorithm. The field pattern is shown in Figure 3.13. In this example, the probability for  $M_x$  and  $M_y$  categories is more than 99% and 20% for  $M_z$  from the neural network output. For other categories, the probability is less than 1%. If 50% is used as the threshold,  $M_x$  and  $M_y$  are two types of dipole moments identified by the algorithm.



Figure 3.13. Field patterns of the input image in example 3.

Their corresponding class activation maps are shown in Figure 3.14. It can be observed that the  $M_x$  and  $M_y$  dipoles are pretty close to each other. Similarly, the magnitudes and phases of the dipoles can be further determined.



Figure 3.14. The class activation map of  $M_x$  and  $M_z$ .

The H fields from the  $M_x$  dipole moment and the  $M_y$  dipole moment at the detected locations are shown in Figure 3.15. The reconstructed field is compared to the original field

as shown in Figure 3.16. It can be seen that the reconstructed field pattern is very close to the input pattern.



Figure 3.15.  $H_x$  patterns from the extracted dipoles.



Figure 3.16. Reconstructed field pattern.

**3.2.2. Practical Example.** The proposed method is also tested on a more practical example from measurement. The measurement setup is shown in Figure 3.17. The measured H-field pattern is shown in Figure 3.18 and Figure 3.19.



Figure 3.17. Setup of the field measurement.



Figure 3.18. Measured H<sub>x</sub>.



Figure 3.19. Measured H<sub>y</sub>.

In this case,  $M_x$  and  $M_y$  are two types of dipole moments identified by the algorithm. Their corresponding class activation maps are shown in Figure 3.20 and Figure 3.21. The reconstructed field is compared to the original field as shown in Figure 3.22. It can be seen that the reconstructed field pattern is very close to the input pattern.



Figure 3.20. The class activation map of  $H_x$ .



Figure 3.21. The class activation map of H<sub>y</sub>.



Figure 3.22. Reconstructed field pattern.

The main advantage of the proposed algorithm is that it can determine the dipole moment types and their corresponding locations in a short time with a well-trained neural network. Then the calculation of the magnitude and phase of each dipole with the location and type known is much easier than directly performing an optimization algorithm to extract dipole sources. The main drawback of this method is its generalization capability, like other machine learning based algorithms, is affected by the quality of training data and the values of hyper-parameters. Data augmentations and hyper-parameters tunings are needed to further improve the algorithm.

## 4. THE APPLICATION OF INTEGER PROGRAMMING TECHNIQUE FOR PCB STACK-UP DESIGN

In high speed system design, optimizing printed circuit board (PCB) stack-up plays an important role in design stage. Since PCB stack-up definition is one of the first things to be locked during the design phase, a less than optimum PCB stack-up can result in the selection of expensive laminate materials [34]-[37]. The cost of a system can be significantly reduced with an optimum stack-up design. An example of a PCB stack-up design is shown in Figure 4.1.

7 Tuno					Single Ended		Differential				
Z Type					51	Ingle Linded	OF				
Target 2 (onms)						30	65				
Layer	Layer Name	Nominal Cu Wt	Dk Assumption	Nominal Thickness		line-W/Z	Line-W / Space /Z				
	soldermask		3.2	0.5							
1	TOP	DP 1.5 oz		1.9	7.8	49.3	8.9	9.7	84.09		
Prepeg	PP		3.4	4							
2	GND	1 oz		1.3							
Core	Core		3.4	4							
3	INNER1	1 oz		1.3	4.6	49.3	6.1	10	84.03		
Prepeg	PP		3.4	6							
4	GND	1 oz		1.3							
Core	Core		3.4	4							
5	INNER2	1 oz		1.3	6	49.36	7.4	10	84.26		
Prepeg	PP		3.4	12							
6	INNER3	1 oz		1.3	6	49.36	7.4	10	84.26		
Core	Core		3.4	4							
7	GND	1 oz		1.3							
Prepeg	PP		3.4	6							
8	INNER4	1 oz		1.3	4.6	49.3	6.1	10	84.03		
Core	Core		3.4	4							
9	GND	1 oz		1.3							
Prepeg	PP		3.4	4							
10	BOTTOM	1.5 oz		1.9	7.8	49.3	8.9	9.7	84.09		
	soldermask			0.5							
	Total Height			63.2				Î.			

Figure 4.1. An example of PCB stack-up.

In PCB stack-up design and optimization, signal integrity engineers are usually informed with the desired board thickness, the desired number of layers and the desired number of routing layers. In general, the ground/signal assignment and an initial value of the dielectric thickness for each layer need to be determined first, then the cross-section of each routing layer must be well tuned to achieve good electrical performances. Transmission line electrical properties such as characteristic impedance, insertion loss and crosstalk are usually considered at this step [38]-[43].

The stack-up arrangement is easy for a simple 6-layer or 8-layer board. However, in high performance workstations or servers, the high-speed PCB already goes to 20 layers or more, and this number may grow larger and larger in the future. The number of possible combinations becomes large, and there may be multiple optimum solutions that satisfy the requirements at this initial step. In different applications, the objective and the design rule may also be different. For example, whether setting microstrip lines or striplines as the primary objective will result in different designs. In general, this step is a problem to find all feasible combinations that satisfy the desired constraints. One way to generate a good stack-up arrangement is referring to a previous design and making some modifications. This approach is usually efficient in real designs, though some better choices may be ignored easily. Another approach is brute-force searching, but brute-force searching will be slow when the number of layers goes beyond 20. A scalable, flexible, and efficient approach for stack-up arrangement can help the entire design significantly.

After the stack-up arrangement is determined, the cross-section of each routing layer needs to be optimized. The objective of this step is usually optimizing the electrical properties of the transmission lines and can be modeled as a black-box optimization. Blackbox optimization methods like genetic algorithm (GA) and Bayesian optimization (BO) have been applied to similar optimization tasks [44]-[47]. In [44] and [45], advanced Bayesian optimization algorithms are developed to reduce the number of function evaluations. In [47], GA is used for optimizing high speed channels. In [46], Bayesian optimization is also applied to transmission line cross-section optimizations. In practical PCB stack-up designs, there are many constraints to the variables in the cross-section of transmission lines. For example, there are only a few possible choices for core thickness and dielectric materials. An optimization algorithm for discrete variables is more suitable for cross-section optimization in real designs. After optimizing the transmission lines in one layer, it is also necessary to check whether the entire design still satisfies all the design rules and constraints.

A new stack-up design optimization approach based on mixed integer programming technique is proposed. First, the stack-up arrangement problem is solved by integer programming solver. Integer programming is a mathematical optimization technique that has been used in many practical applications [48], [49]. Current integer programming solvers have included advanced heuristic searching algorithms and become very powerful. A scalable, flexible and efficient approach is developed by converting the stack-up arrangement problem to an integer linear programming problem. Next the crosssection of each routing layer is tuned by a black-box optimization algorithm, Harmonica, based on polynomial sparse recovery [50], [51]. In this algorithm, each variable is encoded by binary encoding to represent the possible values. The original optimization problem is converted to optimizing several recovered sparse polynomials. Finally these two algorithms are connected by an iterative approach to complete the PCB stack-up design.

## 4.1. INTEGER PROGRAMMING FOR STACK-UP DESIGN

**4.1.1. Introduction of Integer Programming.** An integer programming problem is a mathematical optimization or feasibility program in which some or all of the variables are restricted to be integers [49]. In many cases the term refers to integer linear programming (ILP), in which the objective function and the constraints are linear. An integer linear program in canonical form is expressed in (9):

maximize 
$$\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x}$$
  
subject to  $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{x} \le \mathbf{b}$ ,  
 $\mathbf{x} \ge 0$ , (9)  
and  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ 

where  $\mathbf{c}$ ,  $\mathbf{b}$  are vectors,  $\mathbf{D}$  is a matrix and  $\mathbf{x}$  is the unknown integer vector. As shown above, the mathematical model of an ILP consists of an objective and constraints. Integer programming solvers usually only take the equalities or inequalities as the constraints and optimize for a certain objective.

The following optimization problem is a simple example:

maximize 
$$x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + x_4$$
  
If  $x_1 + 2x_2 \le 10$ ,  
then  $x_3 - 2x_4 \ge 2$ ,  
and  $0 \le x_i \le 10, x_i \in \mathbb{Z}, i = 1, 2, 3, 4$ 
(10)

The constraint in this example is a logical "if-then" constraint and can be transformed to an integer program by the equations below:

$$x_1 + 2x_2 \ge 11 - My_1, \tag{11}$$

$$x_3 - 2x_4 \ge 2 - M(1 - y_1), y_1 \in \{0, 1\}$$
(12)

where  $y_1$  is a new binary variable and M is a big number.

The explanation of the above equations is as follows. When the binary variable  $y_1$  is 0, (11) is contradict to the "if" condition in (10). In this case, there is no other constraint to input variables and (12) becomes a trivial constraint when M is a large number like 100. When the binary variable  $y_1$  is 1, (11) becomes a trivial constraint which includes the case that "if" condition in (10) is satisfied. Then (12) becomes the "then" logic in (10). The original "if-then" logic is also equivalent to either " $x_1 + 2x_2 \ge 11$ " or " $x_3 - 2x_4 \ge 2$ " or both. The additional binary variable in the equations interpret whether the "if" condition is satisfied. When no constraint needs to be satisfied, the large number M makes sure other equations are naturally true. By above transformations, any logical constraints can be transformed to an integer program consisting of mathematical equalities or inequalities only. Then an integer program solver can solve the problem very fast.

**4.1.2. Stack-up Constraints Transformation by Integer Programming.** As the stack-up arrangement is done before the cross-section optimization, the complex electromagnetic solvers are not involved yet. The linear equalities and inequalities are enough to cover the constraints. The electrical properties such as characteristic impedance or crosstalk are not determined at this step, however, based on our knowledge of transmission line physics, some general rules can still be developed to determine initial dielectric thickness values and ground/signal assignments.

Let's consider a PCB design with *L* layers, *N* routing layers,  $N_1$  outer routing layers and total thickness *T*. The conductor type for *j*th layer is denoted as  $x_j$ , and  $x_j$  is a binary variable where 0 represents ground and 1 represents signal. The range of dielectric thickness is assumed to be between 3 mil and 20 mil and 0.5 mil granularity is considered. Therefore, the dielectric thickness can be converted to integers by multiplying a factor of 2. The dielectric thickness for *j*th layer is denoted as  $y_j$ , where  $y_j$  is an integer between 6 and 40 representing twice the real thickness value.

To build a mathematical model that can be solved by ILP solvers for this problem, all constraints need to be programmed as either equalities or inequalities. First of all, the number of routing layers and the total thickness requirements must be satisfied. The corresponding equalities and inequalities are shown in (13) to (15).

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L} x_j = N \quad , \tag{13}$$

$$x_1 + x_L = N_1 , (14)$$

$$T' - \Delta T \le \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{L-1} y_j \le T' + \Delta T \quad , \tag{15}$$

where *N* is the desired routing layer number,  $N_1$  is the desired outer layer number, *T*' is the desired total thickness and  $\Delta T$  is the tolerance defined by user. Since the conductor thickness is usually fixed, *T*' is also equal to the total board thickness *T* minus the total conductor thickness. Three consecutive signal layers are usually not allowed in high-speed PCB design, therefore one more inequality can be added as shown in (16). In this paper, only balanced and symmetric designs are considered for now and this rule can be written as two equalities in (17) and (18).

$$x_j + x_{j+1} + x_{j+2} \le 2, j = 1, 2, \dots, L-2$$
, (16)

$$x_j = x_{L+1-j}, j = 1, 2, \dots, L$$
, (17)

$$y_j = y_{L-j}, j = 1, 2, \dots, L-1$$
, (18)

There will be too many solutions if the above constraints are included. More rules need to be defined to further select the solutions. As mentioned before, even though the electromagnetic solver is not involved, some general design rules can still be defined for transmission lines based on our knowledge. The transmission lines in PCB usually include mircrostrip lines, striplines and dual-striplines. The structure of a stripline is shown in Figure 4.2. For a stripline, since the surface roughness is more at the prepreg side of the trace, the primary reference plane is usually preferred to be the ground next to the core. Therefore, the prepreg needs to be thicker than the core especially when the core is thin. As the insertion loss tends to be larger when the dielectric thickness gets smaller, the difference between prepreg and core thickness should not be too large. For example, a 3 mil core with 10 mil stripline design and a 5 mil core with 8 mil prepreg stripline design have the same total thickness, but the latter design is considered to be better for loss consideration.



Figure 4.2. The structure of a differential stripline.

The following constraints for striplines are considered: if the core thickness is less than 7 mil, then the prepreg needs to be at least 1.5 mil thicker; if the core thickness is greater than 7 mil, then prepreg needs to be thicker than core. The difference between prepreg and core thickness is not greater than 4 mil. This constraint is a logical "if-thenelse-then" condition, however, the ILP solvers only accept equalities or inequalities as constraints. So the "big M" mathematical programming method is used to convert this logical condition to equalities and inequalities by introducing some additional variables. The derived inequalities are shown in (19) to (29):

$$A_j = x_j + 2x_{j+1} + 4x_{j+2} , (19)$$

$$2 - M(1 - \mathbf{u}_j) \le \mathbf{A}_j \quad , \tag{20}$$

$$1+Mu_j \ge A_j \quad , \tag{21}$$

$$2+M(1-v_j)\ge A_j , \qquad (22)$$

$$3-Mv_j \le A_j \quad , \tag{23}$$

$$0 \le u_i + v_i - 2t_i \le 1$$
, (24)

$$13 + M(1 - p_j) \ge y_{j+1} , \qquad (25)$$

$$14 - Mp_j \le y_{j+1}$$
, (26)

$$y_{j} - y_{j+1} \ge 3 - M(1 - p_{j}) - M(1 - t_{j}) , \qquad (27)$$

$$y_j - y_{j+1} \ge 0 - Mp_j - M(1 - t_j)$$
, (28)

$$y_{j} - y_{j+1} \le 8 + M(1 - t_{j}) 
j = 1, 2, \dots, L - 2$$
(29)

where  $y_j$  and  $y_{j+1}$  represents twice the prepreg and core thickness respectively,  $u_j$ ,  $v_j$ ,  $t_j$ ,  $p_j$  are new binary variables which can only be 0 or 1, *M* is a large constant and is set to 100 in this example.

The explanation of the above equations is as follows. First  $A_i$  is a binary encoding of three variables that represent three consecutive conductor assignments, the stack-up forms a ground-signal-ground stripline structure only when  $A_i$  is equal to 2, which is also equivalent to  $A_i$  is both greater or equal to 2 and less than or equal to 2. Then (20) to (23) ensure that this is true only when both  $u_i$  and  $v_i$  are 1. When either  $u_i$  or  $v_i$  is zero, the stackup at *j*th layer is not a stripline so the constraints don't apply. In this condition, the inequalities in (27) to (29) are automatically satisfied as M is a large number that exceeds the range of  $y_i$  and  $y_{j+1}$ . And this is equivalent to no constraints are applied. Equation (24) means t<sub>i</sub> is equal to the logical and of  $u_i$  and  $v_i$ , so whether  $t_i$  is 1 determines the current structure is a stripline or not. When p is equal to one, (25) and (27) are equivalent to the constraint when core is thinner than 7 mil. Equation (26) and (28) will become two trivial constraints in this condition due to the large M. Similarly when p is zero, (26) and (28) are equivalent to the "else-then" part while (25) and (27) become two trivial constraints. In summary, the additional binary variables interpret whether some conditions are satisfied and the large constant ensures that other constraints are always satisfied automatically. Finally, the original logical constraints are converted to multiple inequalities that fit to integer programming formulations. Since the range of unknown variables are known, it is very easy to determine a large number to serve as M.

There may be some dual-striplines in the design as well due to the number of layers limitation. Figure 4.3 shows the structure of a dual-stripline. For a dual-stripline, two signal to ground distances are usually required to be the same. The separation between two signals needs to be large so the broadside coupling is reduced. For example, the signal to signal separation is constrained to be greater or equal to 4 times the dielectric thickness between signal and ground.



Figure 4.3. The structure of a dual stripline.

The corresponding equalities and inequalities are shown in (30) to (38):

$$B_j = x_j + 2x_{j+1} + 4x_{j+2} + 8x_{j+3} , ag{30}$$

$$6-M(1-k_j) \le B_j \quad , \tag{31}$$

$$5 + Mk_j \ge B_j \quad , \tag{32}$$

$$6+M(1-l_j)\ge B_j , (33)$$

$$7 - Ml_j \le B_j \quad , \tag{34}$$

$$0 \le k_j + l_j - 2q_j \le 1 , \qquad (35)$$

$$y_{j+2} - y_j \le 0 + M(1 - q_j)$$
, (36)

$$y_{j+2} - y_j \ge 0 - M(1 - q_j)$$
, (37)

$$y_{j+1} - 4y_j \ge 0 - 4M(1 - q_j) 
j = 1, 2, \dots, L - 3$$
(38)

where  $y_j$  and  $y_{j+2}$  are twice the dielectric thickness between signal and ground,  $y_{j+1}$  is twice the separation between signals,  $k_j$ ,  $l_j$ ,  $q_j$  are new binary variables that can only be 0 or 1, Mis the same large constant defined previously.

Similarly,  $B_j$  is a binary encoding of four consecutive layers, the current structure is a dual-stripline only when  $B_j$  is equal to 6. Then by (31) to (35), this condition is further converted to binary variable  $q_j$  equal to 1. Equation (36) to (38) are the desired constraints for dual-stripline designs when  $q_j$  is equal to 1 and they become trivial constraints when  $q_j$ is zero due to the large constant *M*.

Depending on the specific applications, other constraints may also apply. As long as the constraints can be written in simple linear equations, they can be converted to inequalities using a similar method no matter how complex in logical they are. With all constraints being converted to inequalities, the integer programming solver will be called to solve the problem.

## 4.2. SOLVING BY INTEGER PROGRAMMING SOLVER

Characteristic impedance and insertion loss are two main electrical properties that are considered in transmission line designs. The characteristic impedance is determined by per-unit-length (PUL) RLGC parameters [52]-[58]. Total loss consists of conductor loss and dielectric loss. They are determined by PUL RLGC parameters and dielectric material properties. Characteristic impedance and insertion loss will affect the eye diagram in the system [59]-[61]. Since the transmission line is usually designed for a desired characteristic impedance, a larger dielectric height leads to a larger trace width to achieve the desired impedance. The PUL R term gets smaller when trace width increases. Therefore, the objective of the integer program can be set as maximizing the summation of all core layer heights if minimizing insertion loss is the primary target.

Design density is another factor that is usually considered in practical designs. Smaller trace width and spacing lead to a higher design density. If high design density is the priority, the objective of the integer program can be set as minimizing the summation of all core layer heights.

The objective of this integer program can also be left empty when there is no primary target. In this case, the integer program becomes a feasibility problem and all combinations that satisfy the constraints are solutions.

Integer programming solvers give one solution in one run. To obtain multiple solutions or all feasible solutions, the solver can be called iteratively, and in each iteration a new constraint that the next solution must be different from the solution in last iteration is added. The flow diagram of solving the stack-up arrangement problem is shown in Figure 4.4. For the additional constraint that the next solution must be different from the solution in previous iteration, it also needs to be converted to inequalities to be fed to integer programming solvers. Suppose a1, ..., aL represents the solution for x1, ..., xL in the last iteration, then the additional constraint can be written as (39):

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L} a_j x_j \le N - 1 \tag{39}$$

where *N* is still the number of routing layers. Since  $a_j$  is already known in last iteration, it is just a constant that can be either 0 or 1. This inequality can be interpreted as the signal layers assignment is different from the last iteration.



Figure 4.4. The flow chart for solving integer programming problems.

## 4.3. STACK-UP DESIGN VALIDATIONS

The proposed algorithm is tested on a 30-layer PCB design. In this example, 16 inner routing layers and 2 outer routing layers are required, and the desired total board thickness is 180 mil. The stripline designs need to satisfy the constraints mentioned in the previous section. For dual striplines, the design rule is that the signal to signal separation is greater or equal to 4 times the distance between signal and reference plane to reduce the broadside coupling. The ranges for core and prepreg thickness are 3 - 10 mil and 3 - 20 mil, respectively. The Coin-or is used as the integer programming solver [62].

For a 30-layer case, the number of possible signal/ground assignments without any constraint is 4 million and 35 solutions among the 4 million combinations satisfy the specific requirements in this case and the basic PCB stack-up design rules mentioned in previous section. The integer programming method can find all 35 solutions in 10 seconds shown in Figure 4.5. Assuming other constraints for this 30-layer example are the same as the previous example, a similar procedure is performed to tune the cross-section of

	1	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP	TOP
Proprog	-8	DD	PP	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD
richied	-	OND	CND	OND	CND	OND	CNID	OND	CND	ONID	CNID	OND	CND	OND	CNID
A	2	GIND	GND	GND	GND	GIND	GND	GND	GND	GNU	GIVD	GIND	GND	GND	GND
Core	-	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	3	INNERI	INNERI	INNERI	INNERI	INNERI	GND	INNERI	INNERT	INNERI	INNERI	INNERI	INNERI	INNERI	GND
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
	4	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	INNER1
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	5	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER1	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2	INNER2
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
	6	INNER3	INNER3	GND	GND	GND	INNER2	INNER3	INNER3	INNER3	INNER3	GND	GND	INNER3	GND
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	7	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	INNER3	INNER3	GND	GND
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
12 90.	8	INNER4	INNER4	INNER3	INNER3	INNER3	INNER3	INNER4	INNER4	GND	GND	INNER4	INNER4	GND	INNER3
Core	-	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	3	INNERS	INNERS	INNERA	INNERA	INNERA	INNERA	INNERS	INNERS	INNERA	INNERA	GND	GND	INNERA	INNERA
Deserve	Ť	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD
Frepreg	10	CNID	OND	OND	ONID	ONID	ONID	OND	ONID	ONID	ONID	OND	OND	OND	CND
ē	10	GIVD	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GIND	GND	GND	GND	GND
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	11	INNER6	GND	INNER5	GND	INNER5	INNER5	GND	GND	INNER5	INNER5	GND	INNER5	GND	INNER5
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
	12	GND	INNER6	INNER6	INNER5	INNER6	GND	GND	INNER6	GND	INNER6	INNER5	INNER6	INNER5	GND
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	13	GND	GND	GND	INNER6	GND	INNER6	INNER6	GND	INNER6	GND	INNER6	GND	INNER6	INNER6
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
	14	GND	GND	GND	GND	INNER7	GND	GND	INNER7	INNER7	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	15	INNED7	INNED7	INNED7	INNED7	GND	INNED7	INNED7	GND	GND	INNED7	INNED7	INNED7	INNED7	INNER7
Droprog		DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD
riepieg	40	ININEDO	ININE DO	ININIEDO	IN INICOS	ONID	INNEDA	ININEDO	OND	ONID	ININEDA	ININEDO	ININEDA	ININEDO	ININEDO
A	10	INNERO	INIVERO	INNERO	O	GND	O	O	GND	GND	O	O	O	ININE HO	INNERO
Core	-	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
e	10	GND	GND	GND	GND	INNER8	GND	GND	INNER8	INNER8	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
	18	GND	GND	GND	INNER9	GND	INNER3	INNER9	GND	INNER9	GND	INNER9	GND	INNER9	INNERS
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	19	GND	INNER3	INNER9	INNER10	INNER9	GND	GND	INNER9	GND	INNER9	INNER10	INNER9	INNER10	GND
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
38, 30,	20	INNERS	GND	INNER10	GND	INNER10	INNER10	GND	GND	INNER10	INNER10	GND	INNER10	GND	INNER10
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	21	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND
Prepred		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
, copies	22	INNER10	INNER10	INNER11	INNER11	INNER11	INNER11	INNER10	INNER10	INNER11	INNER11	GND	GND	INNER11	INNER11
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Coro
Core	00	ININE D11	ININED11	ININED19	ININED19	ININED19	ININED19	ININEDH	ININED11	CND	CMD	ININED44	ININED11	CND	ININED10
<b>B</b>	20	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	OND OD	GND	DD	DD	OND DD	DD
Prepreg		PP	FF	PP	PP	PP	PP OUD	PP	PP	PP	PP	FF	PP	PP	PP
	24	GND	GND	GND	GNU	GND	GNU	GND	GNU	GND	GNU	INNER12	INNER12	GND	GNU
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
a 1	25	INNER12	INNER12	GND	GND	GND	INNER13	INNER12	INNER12	INNER12	INNER12	GND	GND	INNER12	GND
Prepreg		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
	26	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER14	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13	INNER13
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
	27	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	INNER14
Preprea		PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP	PP
	28	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	GND	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	INNER14	GND
Core		Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core	Core
Core	29	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND	GND
Decement	20	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD
Frepreg	~~	PP DOTTOT	POTTOT	PP	PPT DOTTO:	PP'	PPT DOTTO:	PP'	PPT DOTTO:	PP	PP'	PP'	PP"	PP DOTTO:	PP'
	30	BULLOM	BUITUM	BUILUN	BUILON	BUILON	BUILDN	BUILUN	BUILDN	BUILON	BUILDN	BUILON	BUILON	BUILON	DUITUM

Figure 4.5. The stack-up arrangement results.

Casenumber		-36	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1	Solde	erm	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
	1 TOP		1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9
Prepreg	PP		3	3	3.5	3	3	3.5	4	3	3	3.5	3.5	3	3	4	4.5
	GND		13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
Core	Core	200	3	3	3	3.5	4	35	3	35	3	3	35	3		3	35
Core	2 CND	18	12	10	12	4.0	12	1.2	4.2	4.2	12	12	4.2	10	12	12	4.2
	5 GIVD	24	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Prepreg	PP	-	D	5.5	D	D	ь	6	D	5.5	ь	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	2
1.530	1 INNE	R1	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core	511	3	3.5	3	3	3	3	3	3.5	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
	5 GND	98	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		6	5.5	6	6	6	6	6	5.5	6	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5
Sec. Station	5 INNE	R2	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core	211	3	3.5	3	3	3	3	3	3.5	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
	7 GND	3	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
Dramesa	DD	20	2	2	2	- 2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3
Frepreg		Da	10	10	10	4.0	10	10	4.0	4.0	10	10	10	4.0	10	10	10
	> INNINE	кэ	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Core	Core	2	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	13	12	12	13	12	12	12
	3 INNE	B4	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
1	GND	51	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core	8	3	3.5	3	3	3	3	3	3.5	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
1	1 INNE	R5	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepred	PP		6	5.5	6	6	6	6	6	5.5	6	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5
1	GND		13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
Care	Care	201	2	25	2	2	2	2	2	2.5	2	25	25	25	2.5	25	25
Core 4	Core	De	4.0	4.0	40	4.0	40	10	40	3.5	40	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
1	S INNE	Rб	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		ь	5.5	ь	ь	ь	ь	ь	5.5	ь	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5
inter starting	4 GND	51	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core	811	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
1	5 INNE	B7	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	13	12	12	13	12	12	12
1	5 INNE	R8	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core	100	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
	7 GND	2	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
Despesa	DD	20	6	5.5	6	6	6	6	6	5.5	6	5.5	5.5	5.5	EE	5.5	5
+repreg		na	12	4.2	12	12	12	12	12	4.2	12	1.2	1.2	4.2	1.2	12	12
	> INVINE	вэ	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Core	Core	3	3	3.5	3	3	3	3	3	3.5	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
1	3 GND	98	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		6	5.5	6	6	6	6	6	5.5	6	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5
21	D INNE	R1	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core	51	3	3.5	3	3	3	3	3	3.5	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
2	1 GND	221	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
2	2 INNE	B1	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core		12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	13	12	12	13	12	12	12
2	3 INNE	D1	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
Despera	DD		2	2	2		2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3
Prepreg	PP		10	40	40	40	10	10	40	40	40	40	10	40	10	10	10
	+ GIVD		1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Core	Core	3	3	3.5	3	3	3	3	3	3.5	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
2	5 INNE	B1:	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		6	5.5	6	6	6	6	6	5.5	6	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5
21	5 GND	51	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Core	Core	8	3	3.5	3	3	3	3	3	3.5	3	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
2	7 INNE	B1	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3
Prepreg	PP		6	55	6	6	6	6	6	5.5	6	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5.5	5
0	S GMD		13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
Core	Car	2	2	2	2	3.5		25	2	3.5	2	2	35	2		2	35
oure	e conc	3	10	10	10	10	40	1.0	10	1.0	10	10	10	10	40	10	10
2	GIVD	35	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Prepreg	PP	1	3	3	3.5	3	3	3.5	4	3	3	3.5	3.5	3	3	4	4.5
3	BOL	101	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.9
· · · · · ·	Solde	erm	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
	Total	He	179	179 '	180	180	181	181	181	180	181	180	181	181	181	181	179

Figure 4.6. The stack-up design result.

The main advantage of using integer programming method for layer arrangement step is its scalability and efficiency. Figure 4.7 shows the time spent by integer programming solver .vs the number of layers. It can be seen that the consumed time is still small even when the number of layers reach 40. If this process is done by logical searching, it will take much longer to find all possible solutions. Since the integer programming approach converts constraints to inequalities, it is also flexible with constraints changed or additional constraints. The main limitation is current integer programming solvers can only handle linear or quadratic inequalities. The solvers can't deal with complex non-linear inequalities such as an electromagnetic problem. Hence, the integer programming approach can only be used for layer arrangement.



Figure 4.7. The time this method takes.

#### 4.4. CORNER CASES SEARCHING BY INTEGER PROGRAMMING

When a stack-up arrangement is selected, the transmission line at each signal layer is designed to meet the required characteristic impedance. The trace width and spacing can be tuned by optimization methods such as Genetic algorithm or Bayesian optimization [46], [47]. At the pre-layout design stage, it is necessary to take the manufacturing variations into consideration and find the corner cases. In real applications, the manufacturing variation can affect the overall performance and de-embedding accuracy in characterizations and verifications [63], [64]. When all parameters including cross-section geometry and material properties are at designed values, the characteristic impedance and insertion loss of this nominal case are the nominal impedance and nominal loss. With the variation range of each parameter given, there are 6 corner cases that need to be considered: high impedance and high loss; high impedance and low loss; nominal impedance and high loss; nominal impedance and low loss; low impedance and high loss; low impedance and low loss. Since PCB house will usually do impedance control, high impedance case means the case with a characteristic impedance about 10% higher than the nominal value assuming 10% impedance control is done. Therefore, high impedance and high loss corner case means the case with highest loss and its impedance is constrained to be 10% higher than the nominal value. In other words, this problem is to find combinations with constraints while maximizing or minimizing another quantity, which is also in the scope of integer programming applications. The proposed method is to find multiple possible solutions by solving an integer program first, then do a brute-force searching on these possible cases by 2D cross-section simulations. The flow of the proposed algorithm is shown in Figure 4.8.


Figure 4.8. The flow chart for corner case searching.

**4.4.1. Integer Program Construction.** Since differential stripline is the most common transmission line in high speed PCB, the stripline model shown in Figure 4.9 is used for illustration. This model includes the core layer, resin layer and prepreg layer to model the stripline accurately. There are 13 variables in this model including all geometry and material parameters, denoted as  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, ..., \alpha_{13}$ . Each variable is first encoded as integers based on its low bound, high bound and step size. The nominal value of each variable is encoded as 0. Since all variables will only vary in a small range, the relationship between inputs and outputs can be approximated as a linear function. The weights for one variable are calculated from 2D simulations by setting this variable to its high bound or low bound value, while other variables are at the nominal value as shown in (40) – (41).

$$w_{i,z} = (Z(\alpha)|_{\alpha_i = \alpha_{i,high}} - Z(\alpha)|_{\alpha_i = \alpha_{i,low}}) / N_i , \qquad (40)$$

$$w_{i,loss} = (L(\alpha)|_{\alpha_i = \alpha_i, losh} - L(\alpha)|_{\alpha_i = \alpha_i, losh}) / N_i , \qquad (41)$$

where Z and L are the characteristic impedance and per-unit-length loss function calculated from 2D simulations,  $N_i$  is the number of levels for each variable. For a 13-variable problem, there are 26 simulations in this step.



Figure 4.9. Variables in a differential stripline.

Then the impedance constraint can be constructed by linear inequalities. Take the high impedance and loss as an example, the constraints can be expressed as the inequalities in (42) - (43).

$$\alpha_{i,low} \le \alpha_i \le \alpha_{i,high} , \qquad (8)$$

$$(Z_{high} - Z_n + \delta_z) \ge \sum_{i=1}^n w_{i,z} \alpha_i \ge (Z_{high} - Z_n - \delta_z) \quad , \tag{9}$$

where  $\alpha_{i,low}$  and  $\alpha_{i,high}$  are the encoded bounds of each variable,  $Z_{high}$  and  $Z_n$  are the high impedance and the nominal impedance in this case,  $\delta_z$  is the tolerance value. The above equation represents the constraint that the characteristic impedance is around the high impedance value.

To find the case with high loss, the weighted linear summation of all variables needs to be maximized. Therefore, the objective of this integer program is:

$$Maximize \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i,loss} \alpha_i$$
(44)

The constraint inequalities for nominal impedance and high loss can be similarly constructed in (45) - (48).

$$A_{nominal,h} \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i,z} x_i \ge -A_{nominal,l} \tag{45}$$

$$A_{nominal,h} = \delta_h / \left(\frac{(A_{0,z} - B_{0,z})}{N_{x0}}\right) \alpha_{i,z}$$

$$\tag{46}$$

$$A_{nominal,l} = \delta_l / \left(\frac{(A_{0,z} - B_{0,z})}{N_{x0}}\right) \alpha_{i,z}$$

$$\tag{47}$$

$$\delta_h = Z_{n,h-} Z_{nominal}, \, \delta_l = -Z_{n,l} + Z_{nominal} \tag{48}$$

For other corner cases, the integer program can be constructed similarly using the weights calculated previously.

**4.4.2. Corner Case Searching Validation.** The proposed method is tested on a practical design: trace width is 5 mil; trace spacing is 6.5 mil; trace thickness is 1.2 mil; core height is 3.5 mil; prepreg height is 10 mil; the dielectric constant is 3.8 and loss tangent is 0.012 for all dielectric materials. This nominal design will generate an 85-ohm differential stripline. To search the corner cases of this nominal design, a certain variation for each variable is assumed. The low bound and high bound for all variables are shown in Table 4.1. As mentioned above, this stripline model contains three dielectric layers: the core layer, the resin layer, and the prepreg layer. The material property for each dielectric layer can be different so the characteristic impedance and insertion loss of the differential stripline pair can be modeled more accurately.

Variable	Low	Nominal	High
Trace width	4.3 mil	5 mil	5.7 mil
Trace spacing	5.8 mil	6.5 mil	7.2 mil
Trace thickness	1.05 mil	1.2 mil	1.35 mil
Core height	2.9 mil	3.5 mil	4.1 mil
Prepreg height	8 mil	10 mil	12 mil
Core DK	3.65	3.8	3.95
Prepreg DK	3.65	3.8	3.95
Resin DK	3.65	3.8	3.95
Core DF	0.01	0.012	0.014
Prepreg DF	0.01	0.012	0.014
Resin DF	0.01	0.012	0.014
Roughness level	3	5	7
Etch factor	0.35	0.5	0.65

Table 4.1. Bounds of input variables.

Since the integer program constraint is constructed from linear approximations, it is necessary to validate the assumption first. The characteristic impedance and per-unitlength loss results are shown in Figure 4.10 when trace width is swept from 4.3 mil to 5.7 mil. Though the outputs don't strictly change linearly with trace width, the relationship can be approximated as a linear function in this small range. The calculated weights in this example is shown in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.10. Linear approximation.

Variable	Impedance	Loss
Trace width	-47	-9
Trace spacing	+11	-4
Core height	+49	-44
Prepreg height	+6	-2
Trace thickness	-25	-19
Core DK	-4	0
Core DF	0	+87
Prepreg DK	-2	+2
Prepreg DF	0	+54
Resin DK	-1	+1
Resin DF	0	+23
Roughness level	3	+67
Etch factor	+17	+8

Table 4.2. Calculated weights.

The results are compared to brute-force searching. In this validation, a pre-trained neural network model replaces the 2D simulation solver to save searching time. The results comparison is shown in Table 4.3. The accuracy of proposed method can be guaranteed.

		1 million brute-force	
	Integer program searching	searching	
High loss, high impedance	94.01 $\Omega$ and 2.231 dB/inch	94.01 $\Omega$ and 2.231 dB/inch	
High loss, nominal impedance	86 $\Omega$ and 2.371 dB/inch	86 $\Omega$ and 2.371 dB/inch	

Table 4.3. Searching results.

To reduce the searching time when running with 2D simulation solvers in practical use, a parallel engine is developed using python scripts to launch 2D simulations in parallel. The searching time is shown in Table 4.4. Assuming 20 solutions are desired for each corner case, there are 146 simulations that need to be done to find 6 corner cases. By using the parallel engine to launch the 2D cross-sectional analysis, the simulation time can be reduced significantly.

# of solutions for each corner	# of simulations running in	Total Simulation
case	parallel	Time
10	10	12 min
20	10	25 min
20	20	15 min

Table 4.4. Searching time.

## 5. CONCLUSION

In Section 2, CE noises from an ac-dc power supply in an LED TV are analyzed and modeled. An EMI receiver model is built to evaluate the conducted EMI from time domain noise waveforms. The dominant DM noise mechanism varies with frequency ranges and time intervals. Below 700 kHz, the differential loop of the PFC is the main noise current path and this mechanism happens when the rectifier is on. When one diode in the rectifier is forward biased and three other diodes are reverse biased, mode-conversion happens, and it is the dominant DM EMI mechanism above 700 kHz. The parasitic capacitances between the PCB layout and the metallic chassis are the main current paths for CM EMI noise. A loop inductance is introduced by the closed loop formed by the metallic chassis, earth ground and the power cable. This loop inductance and the total parasitic capacitance cause a resonance in EMI noise. A transient simulation model is built to predict CE noises. The prediction from the transient simulation matches well with measurement results.

In Section 3, A machine learning based dipole source reconstruction method is proposed. A multi-label classification analysis is performed by a convolutional neural network to determine the types of the dipole moment sources. This algorithm further uses the class activation map technique to determine the location of the dipoles. Three simulation examples and one measurement example are presented to validate the proposed algorithm and show how the class activation map can help locate the dipoles.

In Section 4, An integer programming based method for PCB stack-up arrangement in real designs is introduced. Constraints and rules in this problem are converted to equalities and inequalities using mathematical programming techniques. Then integer programming solvers are called to solve the mathematical integer programming problems. The proposed method can generate all possible combinations and solutions that satisfy users' desired constraints efficiently. This method is also scalable to the number of layers and flexible to the input constraints.

Then the application of integer programming is further extended to corner case searching. The searching range is first narrowed down by applying constraints using an integer program. Then brute-force searching is applied to search the corner cases. A parallel engine is developed to run 2D cross-section simulations in parallel. The whole process is automated and the accuracy is good.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- [1] J. -. Lai and D. Chen, "Design consideration for power factor correction boost converter operating at the boundary of continuous conduction mode and discontinuous conduction mode," Proceedings Eighth Annual Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition,, San Diego, CA, USA, 1993, pp. 267-273.
- [2] J. Zhang, J. Shao, P. Xu, F. C. Lee and M. M. Jovanovic, "Evaluation of input current in the critical mode boost PFC converter for distributed power systems," APEC 2001. Sixteenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.01CH37181), Anaheim, CA, USA, 2001, pp. 130-136 vol.1.
- [3] Bo Yang, F. C. Lee, A. J. Zhang and Guisong Huang, "LLC resonant converter for front end DC/DC conversion," APEC. Seventeenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.02CH37335), Dallas, TX, USA, 2002, pp. 1108-1112 vol.2.
- [4] R. Severns, "Topologies for three element resonant converters," Fifth Annual Proceedings on Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, Los Angeles, CA, USA, 1990, pp. 712-722.
- [5] R. He, S. A. Walunj, S. Yong, V. Khilkevich, D. Pommerenke, H. Aichele, M. Boettcher, P. Hillenbrand, A. Klaedtke, "Modelling Strategy for Film Capacitors in EMI Filters" in Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. EMC, New Orleans, LA, USA, 22-26 July, 2019. pp.259-265
- [6] W. Chen, X. Yang, and Z. Wang, "An active EMI filtering technique for improving passive filter low-frequency performance," IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat., vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 172–177, Feb. 2006.
- [7] W. Chen, W. Zhang, X. Yang, Z. Sheng, and Z. Wang, "An experimental study of common- and differential-mode active EMI filter compensation characteristics," IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat., vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 683–691, Aug. 2009.
- [8] D. Shin et al., "Analysis and design guide of active EMI filter in a compact package for reduction of common-mode conducted emissions," IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat., vol. 57, no. 4, pp. 660–671, Aug. 2015.
- [9] Z. Wang, S. Wang, C. Wang, F. C. Lee, and P. Kong, "DM EMI noise prediction for constant on-time, critical mode power factor correction converters," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 3150–3157, Jul. 2012.

- [10] F. Yang, X. Ruan, Q. Ji, and Z. Ye, "Input differential-mode EMI of CRM boost PFC converter," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 1177–1188, Mar. 2013.
- [11] D. Fu, S. Wang, P. Kong, F. C. Lee and D. Huang, "Novel Techniques to Suppress the Common-Mode EMI Noise Caused by Transformer Parasitic Capacitances in DC–DC Converters," in IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 60, no. 11, pp. 4968-4977, Nov. 2013.
- [12] P. J. Kong, Y. Jiang, and F. C. Lee, "Common mode EMI noise characteristics of low-power AC–DC converters," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 731–738, Feb. 2012.
- [13] F. Giezendanner, J. Biela, J. W. Kolar, and S. Zudrell-Koch, "EMI noise prediction for electronic ballasts," IEEE Trans. Power Electron., vol. 25, no. 8, pp. 2133–2141, Aug. 2010.
- [14] C. Wu et al., "Analysis and Modeling of Conducted EMI from an AC–DC Power Supply in LED TV up to 1 MHz," in IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility, vol. 61, no. 6, pp. 2050-2059, Dec. 2019.
- [15] S. Wang and F. C. Lee, "Common-mode noise reduction for power factor correction circuit with parasitic capacitance cancellation," IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat., vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 537–542, Aug. 2007.
- [16] Dianbo Fu, P. Kong, S. Wang, F. C. Lee and Ming Xu, "Analysis and suppression of conducted EMI emissions for front-end LLC resonant DC/DC converters," 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, Rhodes, 2008, pp. 1144-1150.
- [17] L. Yang, S. Wang, H. Zhao and Y. Zhi, "Prediction and Analysis of EMI Spectrum Based on the Operating Principle of EMC Spectrum Analyzers," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 263-275, Jan. 2020.
- [18] CISPR 16-1-1 ed3.0 Specification for radio disturbance and immunity measuring apparatus and methods Part 1-1: Radio disturbance and immunity measuring apparatus Measuring apparatus, CISPR Std., 2010-01-29.
- [19] M. Sun, J. Hu, J. He, C. Wu, H. Zhao and H. Kim, "EMI Receiver Model to Evaluate Conducted Emissions from Time-domain Waveforms," 2020 IEEE International Conference on Computational Electromagnetics (ICCEM), Singapore, Singapore, 2020, pp. 166-168.
- [20] ANSYS Q3D Extractor. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.ansys.com/products/electronics/ansys-q3d-extractor.

- [21] ANSYS HFSS. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www. https://www.ansys.com/products/electronics/ansys-hfss.
- [22] H. Kim et al., "Predicting the Conducted Emission of a CRM PFC Below 1MHz by Transient Modeling," 2020 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility & Signal/Power Integrity (EMCSI), Reno, NV, USA, 2020, pp. 494-497.
- [23] H. Zhang, S. Wang, Y. Li, Q. Wang and D. Fu, "Two-Capacitor Transformer Winding Capacitance Models for Common-Mode EMI Noise Analysis in Isolated DC–DC Converters," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. 8458-8469, Nov. 2017.
- [24] Q. Huang, F. Zhang, T. Enomoto, J. Maeshima, K. Araki and C. Hwang, "Physicsbased dipole moment source reconstruction for RFI on a practical cellphone", IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat., vol. 59, no. 6, pp. 1693-1700, Dec. 2017.
- [25] C. Hwang and Q. Huang, "IC placement optimization for RF interference based on dipole moment sources and reciprocity," IEEE Asia-Pacific Electromagn. Compat. Symp., 2017, pp.331-333.
- [26] Q. Huang, Y. Liu, L. Li, Y. Wang, C.Wu and J. Fan, "Radio Frequency Interference Estimation Using Transfer Function Based Dipole Moment Model," IEEE Asia-Pacific Electromagn. Compat. Symp., 2018, pp.115-120.
- [27] Z. Yu, J. A. Mix, S. Sajuyigbe, K. P. Slattery, and J. Fan, "An improved dipolemoment model based on near-field scanning for characterizing near-field coupling and far-field radiation from an IC," IEEE Trans. Electromagn.
- [28] J. Zhang and J. Fan, "Source reconstruction for IC radiated emissions based on magnitude-only near-field scanning," IEEE Trans. Electromagn.
- [29] C. Wu, Z. Sun, Q. Huang, Y. Wang, J. Fan, J. Zhou, "A Method to Extract Physical Dipoles for Radiating Source Characterization and Near Field Coupling Estimation", in Proc. of IEEE Int. Symp. Electromagn.Compat., 2019, pp. 580-583
- [30] Q. Huang and J. Fan," Machine Learning Based Source Reconstruction for RF Desense", IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat., vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 1640-1647, Dec. 2018.
- [31] L. Zhang et al., "Decoupling Capacitor Selection Algorithm for PDN Based on Deep Reinforcement Learning," 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Signal & Power Integrity (EMC+SIPI), New Orleans, LA, USA, 2019, pp. 616-620.

- [32] B. Zhou, A. Khosla, A. Lapedriza, A. Oliva, and A. Torralba, "Learning deep features for discriminative localization," in Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition, 2016, pp. 2921-2929.
- [33] I. Goodfellow, Y. Bengio, and A. Courville, Deep Learning. Cambridge, MA, USA: MIT Press, 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.deeplearningbook.org
- [34] C. Liao, B. Mutnury, C. Chen and Y. Lee, "PCB stack-up design and optimization for next generation speeds," 2016 IEEE 25th Conference on Electrical Performance Of Electronic Packaging And Systems (EPEPS), 2016, pp. 155-158.
- [35] S. Yong, K. Cai, B. Sen, J. Fan, V. Khilkevich and C. Sui, "A Comprehensive and Practical Way to Look at Crosstalk for Transmission Lines with Mismatched Terminals," 2018 IEEE Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Signal Integrity and Power Integrity (EMC, SI & PI), 2018, pp. 538-543.
- [36] B. Chen, M. Ouyang, S. Yong, Y. Wang, Y. Bai, Y. Zhou, J. Fan, "Integrated Crosstalk Noise (ICN) Analysis among Multiple Differential BGA and Via Pairs by Using Design of Experiments (DoE) Method," in Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. EMC, Washington, DC, USA, Aug. 7-11, 2017. pp. 112-117
- [37] S. Yong, V. Khilkevich, Y. Liu, J. He, H. Gao, S. Hinaga, D. Padilla and J. Fan, "Resistance Modeling for Striplines with Different Surface Roughness on the Planes," 2020 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility & Signal/Power Integrity (EMCSI), Reno, NV, USA, 2020, pp. 340-345.
- [38] S. Yong, V. Khilkcvich, Y. Liu, H. Gao, S. Hinaga, S. De, D. Padilla, D. Yanagawa, J. Drewniak, "Dielectric Loss Tangent Extraction Using Modal Measurements and 2-D Cross-sectional Analysis for Multilayer PCBs", *IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility*, 2020, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 1278-1292, Aug 2020
- [39] J. He, S. Yong, Z. Kiguradze, A. Chada, B. Mutnury and J. Drewniak, "The Effect of the Parallel-Plate Mode on Striplines in Inhomogeneous Dielectric Media," 2020 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility & Signal/Power Integrity (EMCSI), Reno, NV, USA, 2020, pp. 352-356.
- [40] B. Chen, X. Ye, B. Samaras, J. Fan., "B. Chen, X. Ye, B. Samaras and J. Fan, "A novel de-embedding method suitable for transmission-line measurement," 2015 Asia-Pacific Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (APEMC), 2015, pp. 1-4.
- [41] S. Yong, Y. Liu, H. Gao, B. Chen, S. De, S. Hinaga, D. Yanagawa, J. Drewniak, V. Khilkcvich, "Dielectric Dissipation Factor (DF) Extraction Based on Differential Measurements and 2 -D Cross - sectional Analysis", in *Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. EMC*, Long Beach, CA, USA, 30 Jul-3Aug, 2018. pp. 217-222.

- [42] X. Sun et al., "An Efficient Approach to Find the Truncation Frequency for Transmission Line-Based Dielectric Material Property Extraction," 2018 IEEE Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Signal Integrity and Power Integrity (EMC, SI & PI), 2018, pp. 588-593.
- [43] Y. Chen, B. Chen, J. He, R. Zai, J. Fan and J. Drewniak, "De-embedding comparisons of 1X-Reflect SFD, 1-port AFR, and 2X-Thru SFD," 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility and 2018 IEEE Asia-Pacific Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC/APEMC), 2018, pp. 160-164.
- [44] H. M. Torun, M. Swaminathan, A. K. Davis, and M. L. F. Bellaredj, "A global Bayesian optimization algorithm and its application to integrated system design," IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst., vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 792–802, Apr. 2018.
- [45] S. J. Park, B. Bae, J. Kim, and M. Swaminathan, "Application of machine learning for optimization of 3-D integrated circuits and systems," IEEE Trans. Very Large Scale Integr. (VLSI) Syst., vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 1856–1865, Jun. 2017.
- [46] Z. Kiguradze, J. He, B. Mutnury, A. Chada, and J. Drewniak, "Bayesian optimization for stack-up design," 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Signal Integrity and Power Integrity (EMC+SIPI), New Orleans, LA, 2019, pp. 629-634.
- [47] H. Kim, C. Sui, K. Cai, B. Sen, J. Fan, "Fast and Precise High-Speed Channel Modeling and Optimization Based on Machine Learning", IEEE Trans. Electromagn. Compat, vol. 60, pp. 2049-2052, Dec. 2018.
- [48] J. He et al., "An Integer Programming Application for PCB Stack-up Arrangement," 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Signal & Power Integrity (EMC+SIPI), New Orleans, LA, USA, 2019, pp. 432-436.
- [49] G. Nemhauser, and L. Wolsey, Integer and Combinatorial Optimization, 1999.
- [50] E. Hazan, A. Klivans, Y. Yuan, "Hyperparameters optimization: A spectral approach", arXiv:1706.00764, 2017.
- [51] Candès, Emmanuel J., and Michael B. Wakin. "An introduction to compressive sampling [a sensing/sampling paradigm that goes against the common knowledge in data acquisition]." IEEE signal processing magazine 25.2 (2008): 21-30.

- [52] J. He et al., "Extracting characteristic impedance of a transmission line referenced to a meshed ground plane," 2016 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC), 2016, pp. 651-656.
- [53] S. Jin, X. Fang, B. Chen, H. Gao, X. Ye and J. Fan, "Validating the transmissionline based material property extraction procedure including surface roughness for multilayer PCBs using simulations," 2016 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC), 2016, pp. 472-477.
- [54] X. Ye, J. Fan, B. Chen, J. L. Drewniak and Q. B. Chen, "Accurate characterization of PCB transmission lines for high speed interconnect," 2015 Asia-Pacific Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (APEMC), 2015, pp. 16-19.
- [55] L. Hua et al., "Characterization of PCB dielectric properties using two striplines on the same board," 2014 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC), 2014, pp. 809-814.
- [56] B. Pu, K. H. Kim, S. Kim and W. Nah, "Modeling and Parameter Extraction of Coplanar Symmetrical Meander Lines," IEEE Transaction on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Vol. 57, No. 3, pp.375-383, June 2015.
- [57] Y. Guo, B. Chen, X. Sun, X. Ye, J. Hsu and J. Fan, "Study of TDR Impedance for Better Analysis to Measurement Correlation," 2019 Joint International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Sapporo and Asia-Pacific International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC Sapporo/APEMC), 2019, pp. 88-91.
- [58] Y. Guo et al., "Limitations of First-Order Surface Impedance Boundary Condition and Its Effect on 2D Simulations for PCB Transmission Lines," 2020 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility & Signal/Power Integrity (EMCSI), 2020, pp. 422-427, doi: 10.1109/EMCSI38923.2020.9191467.
- [59] N. Dikhaminjia et al., "PAM4 signaling considerations for high-speed serial links," 2016 IEEE International Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility (EMC), 2016, pp. 906-910.
- [60] J. He et al., "Per-bit equalization approach for multi-level signal in high-speed design," 2017 IEEE 26th Conference on Electrical Performance of Electronic Packaging and Systems (EPEPS), 2017, pp. 1-3.
- [61] N. Dikhaminjia et al., "Effect of Improved Optimization of DFE Equalization on Crosstalk and Jitter in High Speed Links with Multi-level Signal," 2018 IEEE 68th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), 2018, pp. 2101-2106.

- [62] Computational Infrastructure for Operations Research (*COIN-OR*), [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.coin-or.org/</u>
- [63] B. Chen et al., "Differential S-Parameter De-embedding for 8-Port Network," 2018 IEEE Symposium on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Signal Integrity and Power Integrity (EMC, SI & PI), 2018, pp. 52-56.
- [64] B. Chen, J. He, Y. Guo, S. Pan, X. Ye and J. Fan, "Multi-Ports ([\$2^{n}\$) 2×-Thru De-Embedding: Theory, Validation, and Mode Conversion Characterization," in IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 1261-1270, Aug. 2019.

## VITA

Jiayi He was born in Wuhan, Hubei, China. He received his B.S. degree in Electronics and Information Engineering from Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, in 2014. He joined the EMC Laboratory in the Missouri University of Science and Technology, Rolla, in 2014 and received the M.S. degree of Electrical Engineering in May 2017. After finishing his Master degree, he continued Ph.D. degree study in EMC Laboratory. His research interest include signal integrity in high speed digital systems, power supply EMI modeling and machine learning applications. In July 2021, he received his Ph.D. degree in Electrical Engineering from Missouri University of Science and Technology.

After the completion of his Ph.D. degree program, he joined Cisco Corporation as a hardware Engineer.